IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. 75,086

CHARLES MICHAEL KIGHT,
Appellant,
versus
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Collateral Representative

BILLY H. NOLAS
THOMAS H. DUNN
JOSEPHINE A. HOLLAND

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

This case is before the Court on appeal from the denial of Mr. Kight's motion for Rule 3.850 relief. The lower court held an evidentiary hearing, limited to one claim of that motion and denied relief on all other claims. As to the claim on which a hearing was held, the lower court failed to properly apply the law or adequately assess the facts. As to the other traditional Rule 3.850 claims presented by Mr. Kight, the lower court erred in refusing to allow an evidentiary hearing, and in declining to even allow Mr. Kight to file a motion for rehearing of its overnight order denying the claims. The original and post-conviction records now before the Court, the Rule 3.850 motion, and the discussion presented herein show that the lower court erred. Mr. Kight submits that he is entitled to relief on all claims, and is entitled to full and fair evidentiary resolution on a number of classic post-conviction claims which the circuit court erroneously summarily denied.

This Honorable Court entered a stay of Mr. Kight's execution and directed expedited briefing. In the interest of brevity, since the Rule 3.850 motion and habeas corpus petition have been before the Court and the Court has reviewed them, Mr. Kight will not repeat herein the legal and factual issues discussed in those pleadings, and does not specifically discuss herein every claim presented. Rather, Mr. Kight specifically incorporates into this brief at this juncture all of the issues and claims, and their supporting factual and legal analyses, already presented in the habeas petition and Rule 3.850 motion. No claim presented in the habeas petition and Rule 3.850 motion is waived or abandoned,

whether or not specifically discussed in the body of this brief. As noted, Mr. Kight expressly incorporates his Rule 3.850 motion, accompanying appendix, and habeas petition in this brief and asks this Court to carefully consider those pleadings and the claims presented therein in conjunction with this brief. Mr. Kight also notes at the outset that this brief will not reply to the arguments stated in the brief filed with this Court by the Respondent at the time of Mr. Kight's death warrant. The discussion herein is that of an initial brief. Since the Court has entered a briefing schedule, Mr. Kight will reply on the date provided by the Court for the reply brief.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Kight and Gary Daniel Hutto were arrested for the armed robbery of Herman McGoogin on December 8, 1982. The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent both Mr. Kight and Hutto on those charges on December 8, 1982, the same Assistant Public Defender undertook the representation of Mr. Kight and co-defendant Hutto. This same assistant had represented Mr. Kight in previous judicial proceedings. On December 14, 1982, while still incarcerated on that charge, police questioned Mr. Kight about a missing taxi cab driver. During renewed (and improper, see infra) police questioning on December 17, 1982, Mr. Kight gave the police a statement in which he described his involvement in the robbery and death of the missing cab driver, but stated that Hutto committed the murder. On December 22, 1982, the Public Defender filed a motion to withdraw from representation of Mr. Kight, because of a conflict of interest, but continued to

represent Hutto until July of 1983. On January 6, 1983, Mr. Kight and Hutto were indicted for first-degree murder.

The trial was conducted in Duval County, Florida. The State's primary evidence against Mr. Kight was the testimony of four "jailhouse informants" who claimed to have heard Mr. Kight admit the murder. The State had obtained these informants from Mr. Kight's co-defendant, Gary Hutto, as part of a plea agreement with Hutto. The Public Defender's Office was extensively involved in obtaining this evidence and turning it over to the State. The evidence was central to the State's prosecution of Mr. Kight, and substantially and adversely affected Mr. Kight, the Public Defender's original client. Mr. Hutto pleaded guilty to second-degree murder, pursuant to an agreement with the State, and did not receive a death sentence.

Although the State introduced statements by Mr. Kight to law enforcement and to the informants, the trial judge refused to permit proffered expert testimony that Mr. Kight was mentally retarded and had a low functional age, as well as lay testimony concerning his impaired intelligence and functioning. Such evidence would have related to the voluntariness of Mr. Kight's statements as well as to his state of mind at the time of the offense.

Mr. Kight was found guilty of murder on June 4, 1984. The jury sentencing phase, at which the judge refused to instruct the jury to consider age as a mitigating circumstance, was conducted on July 24, 1984. The jury recommended death and at a judicial sentencing conducted on August 7, 1984, the trial judge sentenced Mr. Kight to death.

This Court affirmed Mr. Kight's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Kight v. State, 512 So. 2d 922 (1987). During those proceedings this Court noted that Mr. Kight should raise claims predicated on Brady v. Maryland in a Rule 3.850 motion. Id. at 933.

On September 27, 1989, Governor Bob Martinez signed a death warrant. Mr. Kight's former trial and appeal counsel, after commencing investigation into a Rule 3.850 action, thereafter requested that CCR represent Mr. Kight. Mr. Kight then filed an Emergency Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence and Application for Stay of Execution in the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida. By an order entered on November 13, 1989, the Honorable David C. Wiggins, Circuit Court Judge, scheduled an evidentiary hearing on Claim 11, involving violations of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), for November 20, 1989, and denied relief on all other claims without a hearing. The lower court in that order specifically referred to this Court's directions concerning the Brady issue. The court denied the majority of the remaining claims, including claims traditionally presented under Rule 3.850, by asserting that the claims should have been raised on appeal or had been rejected on appeal. One of the claims so denied was the claim involving the conflict of interest resulting from the Public Defender's representation of both defendants and actions on behalf of Mr. Hutto and to Mr. Kight's detriment. The lower court also denied a hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel and mental health issues presented in the Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court's order expressly directed, contrary to

Rule 3.850 itself, that no motion for rehearing would be entertained, and thus Mr. Kight was left without a mechanism for addressing the errors in the lower court's order.

The hearing was conducted on the afternoons of November 20, 21, 22, 28 and 29, 1989, and on November 30, 1989, the lower court denied relief on the Brady claim. During those proceedings the lower court also granted a motion by the State to compel disclosure of Mr. Kight's attorney's files pursuant to Section 119, Fla. Stat., and refused to stay that order to permit an interlocutory appeal. The order was complied with, over the strenuous objection of Mr. Kight's counsel.

Mr. Kight timely filed a notice of appeal, this Court granted a stay of the then scheduled execution, and this appeal follows. Given the difficulties facing the CCR office, the fact that the Court has had the 3.850 motion and habeas petition, and the State's responses, and the Court's direction of expedited briefing, this brief shall not detail all of the claims for relief involved in this case and will not re-brief what is contained in the habeas petition and Rule 3.850 motion. Rather, it is intended that this brief be reviewed in conjunction with the Rule 3.850 motion and habeas corpus petition.

ARGUMENT

(I)

THE COURT'S ORDER COMPELLING DISCLOSURE OF MR. KIGHT'S FILES DENIED HIM HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL, AND VIOLATED THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

On November 13, 1989, the State Attorney for the Fourth Judicial Circuit made a formal request to the Office of the

Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) for access to public records pursuant to section 119.01 et. seq., Florida Statutes (1985), "relating to Mr. Kight's post conviction litigation." The request was made "for purposes of [the State's] preparation of a response to Mr. Kight's post-conviction pleadings" (See Motion to Supplement Record).¹

Counsel for Mr. Kight responded to this request by stating that files held by CCR were not subject to 119 disclosure because they are not the files of a state agency, but rather the files of a private individual, Mr. Kight. Unlike other state agencies, CCR does not litigate on behalf of the agency, but represents individual clients -- in this case Mr. Kight. Mr. Kight, obviously, is not a state agency, and the disclosure request was therefore improper. Further, the records were specifically exempt under section 119.07 (3)(0). They were materials falling under the "active litigation" exemption -- Mr. Kight's materials were prepared for the litigation of these post-conviction proceedings. Id.

The State Attorney's Office then filed a Motion to Compel Disclosure on November 15, 1989 (HR. 563-64). Mr. Kight, through counsel, filed a response the next day (HR. 641-45).

On November 27, 1989, the lower court entered an Order

¹The State Attorney's letter (and Mr. Kight's answer) was appended to Mr. Kight's response in opposition to the State's motion for disclosure. Although the Circuit Court Clerk included the motion and response in the record that is now before this Court, the Clerk left out of the record the State's letter making the section 119 request, and Mr. Kight's letter in response. Each of those documents is included in the motion to supplement record, filed herewith.

Granting State's Motion to Compel Disclosure (HR. 663-64). The order required CCR to provide access to files, but limited the scope to those files prepared by defense counsel William Sheppard relating to Mr. Kight's capital trial, rather than those prepared by CCR for post-conviction litigation.² Although the State in its written requests, and then orally, argued that all the files were subject to disclosure, it apparently later conceded that records prepared by CCR for post-conviction litigation were exempted by Section 119.07 (3)(0). CCR counsel have also long recognized this principle, and thus have never requested access to files prepared by the Attorney General for capital post-conviction litigation.

Mr. Kight's counsel objected to the lower court's order and requested the court to stay issuance of the order to permit appeal. The court refused, and Mr. Kight's counsel, without waiving objection, provided access to the State for inspection and copying of the files originally prepared by Mr. Sheppard.

²William White, on behalf of the Public Defender's office, appeared before the lower court at the commencement of the evidentiary hearing and joined Mr. Kight's counsel in objecting to the State's motion. Obviously, the same theory relied on by the State in seeking Mr. Kight's files could be relied upon to obtain a Public Defender's files concerning any Public Defender client. Although the order's scope was eventually limited, the fact remains that section 119 was an improper vehicle, as Mr. Kight does not fall within the statute's rubric: Mr. Kight is not a state agency. Moreover, since the lower court had already ruled that there would be no hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel issues, the directed disclosure of Mr. Sheppard's files was improper. The typical situation in capital cases in which either CCR counsel or former counsel disclose trial attorney files when a hearing is conducted on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim did not arise in this case because the circuit court declined to allow evidentiary resolution of these issues.

However, this issue is not moot. Even though Mr. Kight's counsel have complied with the lower court's order, this issue should be reviewed and determined.

Review now is essential because this issue is "capable of repetition, yet evading review." Honis v. Doe, 108 S. Ct. 592, 601 (1988); Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 93 S.Ct. 705, 713 (1973); Southern Pacific Terminal Co. v. ICC, 219 U.S. 498, 515 (1911). A court's order compelling appointed counsel for an individual client to relinquish a client's files during post-conviction litigation places the client in an impermissible "Catch-22". Once the files are disclosed in compliance with the order, the damage is done. If not addressed now, this denigration of rights could occur repeatedly, without remedy. This issue is thus brought to this Court at the earliest opportunity.

A request by a prosecutor to obtain client files from a defense attorney under Chapter 119 has never been deemed proper in any criminal proceedings prior to this. The request and subsequent order are flatly improper and contrary to Chapter 119 and longstanding legal and ethical precedent.

The purpose of Chapter 119 is to "insure the people of Florida the right to freely gain access to governmental records." Lorei v. Smith, 464 So. 2d 1330, 1332 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied, 475 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1985). Chapter 119 provides access to "governmental records," not private records. The records sought by the State and ordered disclosed by the lower court belong to Mr. Kight, a private citizen. They do not belong to the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, nor any of the office's individual employees. The records belong to the client, not the

lawyer. See City of Miami v. Miami Herald Publishing Co., 468 So. 2d 218, 219 (Fla. 1985). These records are not "governmental records" and are thus beyond the purview of Chapter 119.

These records are not only records of a private individual, but also are records protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege and the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Rule 4-1.6, Rules Regulating the Florida Bar (1989). **As** stated in the Response to the State's request for access to Mr. Kight's files:

Compliance would violate Mr. Kight's right to due process of law in these capital post conviction proceedings, see Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987) and would violate Mr. Kight's right to counsel and his right to the effective assistance of counsel. Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988).

The attorney/client privilege belongs to the client, not the attorney. Although the legislature has the constitutional authority to regulate the activities of state, county, and municipal governmental offices, and thus to require public meetings and public records to be open to the public, the legislature cannot infringe upon the attorney/client privilege or the right to counsel of a private citizen. This Court has recognized as much. See City of North Miami v. Miami Herald Pub. Co., supra. While the CCR office is a state agency, it has the responsibility of representing Mr. Kight, a private individual. Mr. Kight is being provided legal services as an individual and not as a government official. Unlike the petitioners in City of North Miami, the records involved here belong to the client, Mr. Kight, a private citizen. The records do not belong to the

lawyers, neither CCR attorneys, who are government employees, nor Mr. Sheppard, a private attorney.

Mr. Kight's attorney/client privilege and his rights under the state and federal constitutions are not superseded by Chapter 119.³ He is entitled to all the privileges and rights arising from his individual representation. Undersigned counsel represents Mr. Kight, the individual, not the CCR office, the government entity. Under the State's construction here disclosure of the files of a private attorney appointed by the court to represent an indigent defendant could be obtained through Chapter 119. But CCR counsel's, or any attorney's possession of the files does not alter the client's rights. The files belong to the private individual, here Mr. Kight.

As this Court indicated in the City of North Miami, the focus is on the client, not the lawyer. Appointed counsel, although paid with government funds, nonetheless represent the individual client and have absolute allegiance to the individual client. The same is true with CCR counsel. Although employed by a state office, counsel represent Mr. Kight, a private citizen.

This Court has long recognized the importance of the attorney-client privilege as a means of preserving the confidentiality of private communications.

The attorney-client privilege arises in the context of a relationship having great significance for the protection of

³Ironically, even in this case, the Public Defender's files concerning former inmates who would not provide a release were never disclosed to CCR counsel.

fundamental personal rights. For example, the ability to speak freely to one's attorney helps to preserve rights protected by the fifth amendment privilege against self-incrimination and the sixth amendment right to legal representation. See Note, The Attorney-Client Privilege; Fixed Rules, Balancins, and Constitutional Entitlement, 91 Harv. L. Rev. 464 (1977)

Mills v. State, 476 So. 2d 172, 176 (Fla. 1985). Thus, in Mills this Court held that the attorney-client privilege was so significant that it outweighed the rights of Mr. Mills, a capital defendant, to cross-examine a key State's witness, irrespective of the fact that the witness had been granted immunity and thus that self-incrimination issues were irrelevant. In contrast, Mr. Kight maintains his right against self-incrimination, in addition to his attorney-client privilege, and both are protected by the federal and Florida constitutions, and by other legal and ethical standards.

Ironically, in State v. Provenzano (Case Nos. 73,981 and 74,101), State v. Ensle (Case No. 74,902), and State v. Kight (this case, until the trial court ordered disclosure), this same State Attorney's office took the position (and Mr. Kight disagreed) that no disclosure whatsoever was warranted of its own files regarding these defendants pursuant to section 119. The State Attorney complied with the mandates of Chapter 119 in Mr. Kight's case only after the court ordered disclosure. In Provenzano and Ensle, the State refused to comply and the circuit courts refused to order compliance. Ensle and Provenzano are both now pending before this Court.

Mr. Kight requests this Court to reverse the circuit court's order allowing access into his files pursuant to Chapter 119, and

a

urges that the Court rule on this issue since it is certainly subject to repetition.

(II)

THE LOWER COURT IGNORED THE STATE'S DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS AND SUPPRESSION OF MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRONEOUSLY AND INADEQUATELY MISAPPLIED THE LAW TO THE FACTS PRESENTED AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

As this Court recognized on direct appeal, Mr. Kight was convicted and sentenced to death primarily on the basis of informant testimony. What has now been shown is that important facts concerning the informants' testimony were not disclosed to defense counsel. At the 5-day evidentiary hearing held under warrant, Mr. Kight first presented testimony of his trial counsel, William Sheppard, who described information and material withheld by the prosecution and described how that material would have affected the trial and sentencing of Mr. Kight (H. 38-167, 625-634). Mr. Sheppard testified unequivocally that if the information had been provided, he would have used it, and in fact his entire strategy and presentation at trial and sentencing would have been effected and **altered**.⁴ In addition, Richard Ellwood and other jailhouse informants testified that they concocted the stories they told at trial of Mr. Kight's admission of the killing (H. 178-81; 295-96; 449). Ellwood and others testified that Mr. Kight's prosecutors were aware that their

⁴Mr. Sheppard testified in detail that if any of the information concerning informants Moody, Ellwood, Sims or Hugo, or if any of the other information adduced at the 3.850 hearing had been disclosed to him, he certainly would have used it at trial and sentencing.

stories were false. Elwood, Sims, and even Hugo (called by the State) testified that they expected benefits. The prosecutors, however, told them to say, if questioned, that there were no deals (H. 286, 297, 299).

Before discussing the Rule 3.850 hearing record, Mr. Kight outlines certain matters arising from the record which cannot be disputed by the Appellee and which the lower court completely failed to account for in its order denying relief.⁵

a. Fred Moody: Although after Mr. Kight's trial each of the four informants who testified would have motions for reduction of sentences, etc., either filed on their behalf by the same prosecutors who prosecuted Mr. Kight or joined in by those same prosecutors, Fred Moody's "Motion to Vacate Sentence" (App. 17 to motion to vacate, admitted as evidence at the 3.850 hearing) presents a straightforward and glaring violation of Brady v. Maryland and the Florida rules of discovery. See Roman v. State, 528 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1988). Moody's motion to vacate sentence was filed on June 11, 1984, days after Mr. Kight's trial, and well before jury sentencing had begun. It was, however, never disclosed to defense counsel. This discovery and Brady violation is particularly appalling in light of Mr. Moody's trial testimony, described in the Rule 3.850 motion (pp. 32-33), that he would receive absolutely nothing and wanted absolutely nothing from the State. Like the motions filed in the cases of

⁵Since the lower court directed that no petition for rehearing would be considered, and did not allow the filing of any post-hearing memoranda, the errors in the court's order could not be presented to the lower court.

all the others, it was not lawful -- it was filed on his behalf well after the time expired for the filing of such motions, and the circuit court specifically was without jurisdiction to entertain such a motion pursuant to the jurisdictional standards of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800. The grounds for the motion (including the ground that "[t]he defendant co-operated in the first degree murder prosecution of Kight by giving both pre-trial and trial testimony") were expressly "**stipulated to**" by S. Denise Watson, one of Mr. Kight's trial prosecutors, as was the court's jurisdiction (which it did not have). Ms. Watson actually signed the motion itself, at page 2 of the document (See App. 17).

Although the motion was filed (with stipulation) and granted before Mr. Kight's sentencing, the State never informed defense counsel. This is clearly improper under Brady and the applicable discovery provisions, and particularly with regard to the latter, the State has yet to even attempt to make the showing that the discovery violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Roman, 528 So. 2d at 1171, citing State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The lower court, however, said nothing at all about this issue in its order. The lower court erred.

b. Victor Huso: Mr. Hugo, another informant, was called by the State at the hearing. Baker King, one of the prosecutors who had been dealing with Hugo pretrial, also testified at the hearing. Hugo was discussed at pages 18-20 of the Rule 3.850 motion. He testified that although there were no "deals", Mr. King had promised to assist him in placing him in a drug treatment program, and both he and Mr. King knew that in order to do this his sentences had to be made to run concurrently (See

App. 5, p. 2, pretrial letter from Department of Corrections to Assistant State Attorney King relaying as much). Mr. King testified that he did want to assist Hugo with his drug treatment and did take steps in that regard. But those steps required a concurrent sentence. None of this was disclosed to defense counsel, and neither did counsel receive the Department of Corrections letter (App. 5), or the letter from Hugo to Mr. King requesting "help . . . with my situation as we have **discussed**" (App. 4). Subsequently, Hugo's sentence was reduced, unlawfully (see Rule 3.800), pursuant to a motion filed on his behalf by then Assistant State Attorney King (App. 6). Defense counsel testified that if he had been informed of any of this he would have developed and used it at deposition, trial, and sentencing. The lower court's order, however, did not speak to this issue.

c. The Prosecutors: Three prosecutors were involved in Mr. Kight's case. Each testified at the evidentiary hearing. Each were asked numerous questions by undersigned counsel concerning every exhibit introduced at the hearing, every item included in the appendix to the Rule 3.850 motion, every aspect of their dealings with the informants in this case. In response to these questions, the three former prosecutors each testified that they remember nothing specific about this case, nothing about the documents at issue, and indeed almost nothing at all. On cross-examination by the State, the lower court nevertheless allowed each of the three former prosecutors to speculate that if there were "**deals**", they "would have" remembered them. Notwithstanding their expressed lack of memory, the lower court

then relied on these speculations to deny the Rule 3.850 motion. This was simply wrong: speculation is not "competent, substantial evidence," and a trial court's denial of a 3.850 motion cannot be sustained if there is a lack of "competent, substantial evidence" bottoming the ruling. See, e.g., State v. Michael, 530 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1988). This standard is particularly important in this case: two informants (Ellwood and Sims) testified at the Rule 3.850 hearing that there were agreements and understandings (e.g., for sentence reductions), one other (Hugo) denied that there were "deals" but did testify that the State had promised to assist him in gaining drug treatment and that he and the prosecutor knew that in order to get drug treatment his sentences had to be corrected to run concurrently, the fourth (Moody) had the stipulated-to motion to vacate sentence noted above filed on his behalf and granted before Mr. Kight's sentencing, the documentary and other evidence adduced at the hearing (including, Judge Adams' written order finding, pretrial, that the State had violated the discovery rules intentionally by not informing defense counsel of an agreement reached with an informant who did not testify, Def. Ex. 16; the unlawful -- beyond jurisdictional time limits -- motions to vacate/reduce filed by the State and/or with the State's stipulation in the case of each informant; and other documents which were never disclosed to defense counsel), all demonstrated that Brady and the discovery rules were violated in this case. The lower court erred in relying on the former prosecutors' speculations to reject this claim, especially given the prosecutors' own avowed lacks of memory.

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