IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CHARLES MICHAEL KIGHT,

Appellant,

OEC 4 1989 Degising Charly

v.

CASE NO. 75,086

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since this brief is being filed without benefit of an Appellant's Brief, the State respectfully reminds the Court that it should not be held to have waived any argument raised by Mr. Kight but not addressed here.

We anticipate that Mr. Kight will address these issues:

(1) The ruling on the perjury claim.

(2) The granting of the State's "Chapter 119" request.

 $\left(\, 3 \, \right)$ The denial of an evidentiary hearing on his other claims.

On the first issue, we will argue that the ruling is supported by the record.

On the second, we will argue the merits of the decision and "mootness" since the files were not used

On the third, we shall stand on the court's orders.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MR. KIGHT'S "**BRADY** PERJURY" CLAIM

The trial **sub judice** boiled down to a question of who was more credible. On the one hand, there was Mr. Ellwood, Mr. Bostic and Mr. Sims, who said they were liars who ought to be believed "now" and who contradicted each other. On the other hand, we had three attorneys who prosecuted the case and corroboration by a **defense** lawyer (Mr. David) and a **defense** investigator (Mr. Eliopolis) and Eddie Hugo, Jr.

The record is crystal clear. No deals were made, but some inmates who lost gain time or had their lives threatened were later helped, usually on their own initiative or that of some defense attorney (Mr. David or Mr. Metzger). No deals existed, **so** no "**Brady**" material existed. No deals existed, so there was no perjury. Period.

This situation is controlled by **Tibbs** v. **State**, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). The trial judge, as trier of fact, heard and saw the witnesses, gauged their demeanor, weighed the evidence and ruled. There cannot be "trial **de novo**" on appeal.

It is superfluous to really discuss **Brady** and **Bagley, supra,** in the absence of any evidence.,

While Mr. Kight called these four inmates "seasoned jailhouse informants" in his deceptive 3.850 petition, this "fact" was never shown. Indeed, Ellwood and Sims hated the State and Ellwood's only prior testimony had been as a defense witness. While Kight alleged that the State needed and sought this testimony, we now know that the testimony was uncovered by Mr. Eliopolis, who induced Ellwood to talk with a "bluff". The defense lawyer in Hutto's case gave this information to the State. It is unrealistic to assume that Ellwood, et al, would want to work out a deal with the State by going to Mr. Link first, rather than the State.

While Mr. Sheppard, whose testimony was rejected by the trial court in **Lusk** v. **State**, 498 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1987), gave testimony to the effect that "if" deals existed he would have "pushed harder" on discovery, citing to various posttrial documents and unsolicited letters, he failed to help his client' because he could not satisfy **Bagley**; to-wit:

(1) The mere fact that unsolicited mail was received by the State Attorney's Office requesting help does not establish the existence of any deal. In fact, Ellwood's letters make clear, by his anger, the absence of a deal.

(2) The fact that inmates risked their very lives in order to testify against Kight, or lost gain time just to testify against Kight, would hurt Kight's case, not help it.

Thus, Mr. Sheppard's speculative testimony here, as in Lusk, was mainly given out of his deep sense of loyalty to his client. While it was not "false" (Mr. Sheppard always works very hard), it was not credible to the extent Mr. Sheppard opined regarding Bagley. There was no evidence that "but for" this information

³ The appendix shows that Mr. Sheppard's office prepared this issue and then gave the case to CCR, who later accused Mr. Sheppard of being ineffective. A curious bit of cooperation.

there would, by reasonable probability, have been a different result.

Denise Watson, Mark Mahon and Baker King were falsely and carelessly accused of serious misdeeds - both ethically and even criminally - in a careless and basically uninvestigated petition. (This sad trend continues from the Mills, Heiney, Engle, Parker and Williamson cases and appears to be the latest "**de rigeur**" charge). The Petitioner failed to put on any credible evidence to support his allegations. The trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE STATE'S CHAPTER 119 ACCESS TO SPECIFIC FILES

CCR, as a state agency, came into the possession of Mr. Sheppard's criminal defense files prior to filing its **Brady** and "ineffective counsel" charges. CCR sought to deny the State access to these files (and, in fact, the files were never delivered to the attorneys trying the 3.850 case in Jacksonville, so the Court's order did not affect the hearing).

Chapter 119 does not recognize the existence of an attorneyclient privilege. Wait v. Florida Power and Light, 372 So.2d 420, 424 (Fla. 1979). There is, of course, no attorney-client privilege in cases involving "ineffective counsel" claims or where the so-called "confidential" communications have already willingly been delivered to third parties by the defense. Thus, Mr. Kight had no "privilege" here.

Mr. Kight may allege that the trial court's denial of his ineffective counsel claim ended the State's right to disclosure. We disagree for three reasons; to-wit:

(1) The claim against counsel was being appealed and would be renewed in federal court. The issue is not dead.

(2) The statute does not recognize the exemption anyway. We would **also** note that the State did **not** want communications or files prepared by or between CCR and Mr. Kight. All we wanted were Mr. Sheppard's files.

(3) In addition to the malpractice issue, there was a **Bagley-Brady** claim. A vital part

of our **Bagley** defense could have been⁴ what the defense actually knew, to see if the "reasonable probability of a different result if the defendant had had the evidence" test could be met.

While this issue may be moot as to the Rule 3.850 hearing, this issue could be germane to future federal or state proceedings in this case. It will also appear in other cases since the State has the right to defend itself and has a right and a duty to investigate its cases.

Since Mr. Sheppard's files were "received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency", Tribune Co. v. Public Records, 493 So.2d 480, 483 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986), they were subject to Chapter 119 disclosure.

The State's inability to view these files would result in the very problems "cured" by the Florida Bar's decision regarding waiver of the attorney-client privilege in "ineffectiveness" cases. Capital litigants simply cannot be allowed to raise claims on the one hand and deny the court access to evidence refuting those claims, or deny counsel the ability to defend himself, on the other.

Legally and equitably, the trial judge's order was correct.

As it turned out, the Stae was able in **this case** to get by without the files. In future cases, the situation could be different.

ARGUMENT

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING KIGHT'S REMAINING CLAIMS

Mr. Kight's Rule 3.850 petition raised twenty-two additional issues which did not compel relief or even an evidentiary hearing.

Mr. Kight's "strongest" (in terms of its ability to provoke a hearing) claim was the **de rigeur** bad faith attack upon trial counsel. In this case, the victim was Mr. William Sheppard, an outstanding defense lawyer and recognized expert in capital litigation (he is used as an expert, in fact, by his accusers).

While no lawyer can ever be "perfect", the record clearly showed that Mr. Sheppard's performance was within the wide range of professional assistance allowed by **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). Under **Strickland**, even if Mr. Sheppard made demonstrable or "unreasonable" errors, he would not been deemed ineffective if his performance, over all, satisfied the Sixth Amendment.

While the courts like evidentiary hearings in disputable cases, no hearing is required when the record clearly refutes the charge. Bundy v. State, 497 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1986); Stano v. State, 520 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1988).

While Mr. Kight may disagree with the circuit court's conclusions regarding certain tactical decisions, the circuit court was the fact-finder. This is an appeal. Also, even if Mr. Sheppard committed technical errors, one cannot look at this massive record or his aggressive defense and conclude he was operating outside the scope of **Strickland**.

Turning to Mr. Kight's other claims, we find the usual collection of procedurally barred claims.

Rule 3.850 proceedings are not "second appeals", thus negating claims VI, VII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII and XX. Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1988); Straight v. State, 488 So.2d 530 (Fla. 1986); Tafero v. State, 459 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1984).

Similarly, Rule 3.850 proceedings cannot be used to argue issues which could and should, if preserved, have been raised on appeal. Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988); Demps v. State, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987); Atkins v. State, 14 F.L.W. 207 (Fla. 1989); Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1989); Harich v. State, 14 F.L.W. 218 (Fla. 1989); Adams v. State, 14 F.L.W. 235 (Fla. 1989). Therefore, claims IV, V, VIII, ⁵ XIV, XV, XVI, XVII, XVIII and XIX.

We note, regarding issue VIII (despite its procedural bar but **not** waiving said bar as a defense), that the alleged "victim impact statements" were not relied upon by the sentencer as nonstatutory aggravating evidence, see **Barclay** v. **Florida**, 463 U.S. 939 (1983), so no error was committed that affected the case.

⁵ Claim VIII is a procedurally barred **Booth** claim which the trial court rejected under a harmless error analysis. Since the court below can be affirmed for **any** reason, we submit that the procedural bar should apply

Mr. Kight has shown no basis for relief.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

M 1

MARK C. MÉNSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE